

Growth and metabolism in the Antarctic brachiopod *Liothyrella uva*

Lloyd S. Peck, Simon Brockington and Thomas Brey

Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B 1997 **352**, 851-858 doi: 10.1098/rstb.1997.0065

Email alerting service

BIOLOGICAL

THE ROYAL

PHILOSOPHICAL TRANSACTIONS

BIOLOGICAL

THE ROYAI

PHILOSOPHICAL TRANSACTIONS

0

Receive free email alerts when new articles cite this article - sign up in the box at the top right-hand corner of the article or click here

To subscribe to Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B go to: http://rstb.royalsocietypublishing.org/subscriptions

Growth and metabolism in the Antarctic brachiopod *Liothyrella uva*

LLOYD S. PECK¹, SIMON BROCKINGTON¹ AND THOMAS BREY²

¹Natural Environment Research Council British Antarctic Survey, High Cross, Madingley Road, Cambridge CB3 0ET, UK (1.peck@bas.ac.uk) ²Alfred Wegener Institute for Polar and Marine Research, D-27568 Bremerhaven, Germany

CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	851
2.	Materials and methods	852
	(a) Growth measurements	852
	(b) Respiration rate assessments	853
3.	Results	853
	(a) Mortality	853
	(b) Growth rates	854
	(c) Oxygen consumption	855
4.	Discussion	855
	(a) Growth rates	855
	(b) Mortality	856
	(c) Respiration	857
5.	Conclusions	857
	References	857

SUMMARY

Summer and winter growth rates were assessed separately for a population of the Antarctic brachiopod Liothyrella uva between early January 1992 and December 1993. Annual shell growth rates (1.6–2.3 mm yr⁻¹ for a 5 mm individual; 0.96–1.44 mm yr⁻¹ for a 20 mm specimen) were two to six times slower than those reported for temperate species. Growth in specimens less than 20 mm in length was faster in 1992 than in 1993, although differences between years over the whole size range were not significant. Surprisingly, growth was much faster in winter periods than during the summers. A 5 mm long individual grew five times faster in winter than in summer, and for a 20 mm long specimen the difference was 13 times. This runs contrary to current ideas on the effects of seasonality on the biology of polar marine invertebrates, but may be an effect of maximizing the efficiency of resource utilization. Comparisons with previous work showed shell growth to be decoupled from periods of tissue mass increase, and also from the main period of phytoplankton productivity. Oxygen consumption of 75 of the specimens used in the growth study was measured to test the hypothesis that basal metabolic rates should be inversely correlated with growth rates. Unexpectedly, an analysis of residuals produced no significant relationship, positive or negative, between growth rate and basal metabolism (F = 1.37, p = 0.25, n = 75).

1. INTRODUCTION

Growth rates of Antarctic benthic invertebrates are, with few exception very slow (Arntz *et al.* 1994). The few exceptions, two sponges at McMurdo Sound (Dayton *et al.* 1974), three ascidians at King George Island (Rauschert 1991) and a bryozoan species at Signy Island (Barnes 1995*a*), together with the fact that many Antarctic pelagic invertebrates grow quickly during the summer months, have been used to argue that growth is not limited by temperature (Clarke 1991). The alternative hypothesis is that resource limitations are the cause of reduced growth rates. It has also been argued that a major cause of resource limitation is the intense seasonality of phytoplankton biomass, which means that over 90% of the food supply is confined to a 2–3 month period in an average year (Clarke 1983, 1988; Clarke & North 1991; Clarke & Peck 1991).

Recent studies on several Antarctic suspension feeding taxa at Signy Island have, however, found that feeding extends through large parts of the year, from a minimum period of six months to feeding continuously (Barnes & Clarke 1995). Their data indicate that these organisms feed on small phytoplankton in the 2–20 μm size range, which accounts for less than 10% of the annual phytoplankton

BIOLOGICAL

PAGE

biomass, but is present for most of the year (Clarke & Leakey 1996). Furthermore, growth in some Antarctic bryozoans has been shown to proceed continuously throughout the year (Barnes 1995a). The ideas of energetic limitations to animal physiology in polar benthos causing reduced physiological rates are not necessarily affected by these findings, as those species with extended periods of feeding and growing during the year are exploiting a resource supply that is comparatively limited at all times. Thus, species exploiting the highly abundant supplies which are only present for short periods (less than four months) are temporally restricted in resource availability, while others are dependent on a low level of resource available throughout the year. There may even be a third group of suspension feeders that switch the size range exploited at different times of the year, but such species have yet to be identified.

The underlying assumption behind most of the above argument is that growth is tied closely to periods of feeding. Data on growth for the Antarctic infaunal bivalve Yoldia eightsi showed that juveniles increase in shell length at the same rate throughout the year (Peck & Colman 1997). Tissue mass, however, increased during the summer and early autumn and decreased during the rest of the winter. Y. eightsi is a deposit feeder, and the periods of tissue mass increase coincided with periods of enhanced food supply. From these data it is not possible to differentiate between the possibility that shell growth and tissue growth are decoupled in Y. eightsi, or whether the tissue mass increase is due to material being stored by the bivalves for use in growth during other parts of the year. In the former, tissue growth would occur during periods of feeding, whereas in the latter both shell and tissue growth would proceed together, but would be decoupled from feeding.

Continuous steady growth is likely to be a more efficient use of resources than short periods of high activity, and would be a more adapted strategy in areas of low resource supply. High efficiency of resource use has been identified as a characteristic of brachiopods (James *et al.* 1992; Peck 1993, 1996; Peck *et al.* 1997). In a study of tissue mass cycles in the Antarctic brachiopod *Liothyrella uva* (Broderip 1833), Peck & Holmes (1989) found that all tissues increased in mass during the summer. Periods of increase in shell length during the year in *L. uva* are, therefore, of interest.

There have been two studies so far on shell growth in Antarctic brachiopods and these were both based on analyses of growth bands. They found that both *Magellania fragilis*, from the Weddell Sea, and *Liothyrella uva* from Signy Island grow slowly and live to more than 50 yr (Brey *et al.* 1995; Peck & Brey 1996). Peck & Brey (1996) also found that major (alpha) growth bands in the valves of *L. uva* shells were not laid down annually, but with a periodicity of 1.84 yr. The authors conjectured that entrainment must be either to an environmental cycle with a biennial periodicity which occasionally breaks down, or to an endogenous cycle with an approximate biennial periodicity. Strong interannual variations in reproduction have been found in L. uva (Meidlinger *et al.* 1997) and, as no environmental cycle with a periodicity of around 2 yr has yet been found in Antarctica, endogenous cycles such as those associated with reproduction seem to be the most likely causes of the sub-biennial growth bands.

Metabolism and growth are two of the major processes of energy utilization by animals, and the study of trade-offs between them has been an active and productive area of ecology in recent years (Sibley & Calow 1986; Wieser 1994). Good evidence has been produced to show that they are linked in temperate bivalve molluscs, especially *Mytilus edulis*, and that individuals with low basal or standard metabolic requirements have enhanced growth rates (Hawkins & Day 1996). Genetic studies have also been carried out in conjunction with the work on metabolism and growth, which has shown that more heterozygous individuals have the lower metabolic and faster growth rates (Hawkins 1995; Hawkins & Day 1996; Koehn 1987; Koehn & Shumway 1982). It might be expected that species living in energy limited environments, such as brachiopods living in Antarctic seas, would reduce their extraneous metabolic costs to a minimum, and that inter-individual trade-offs between basal metabolism and growth would be more apparent than in conditions of higher, or more predictable resource supply.

The current study investigated differences between summer and winter growth rates between January 1992 and December 1993 in field populations of the brachiopod *Liothyrella uva* at Signy Island, Antarctica. Basal metabolic rates of individuals of known growth performance were also assessed as oxygen consumption of individuals after 35 days of starvation.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

(a) Growth measurements

Liothyrella uva usually lives in clumps of up to 58 animals (L. Peck, personal observation) attached by their pedicles to a central individual. Sixty clumps comprising between two and 12 brachiopods were collected from ledges and overhangs between 5 and 20 m depth at two sites near the British Antarctic Survey station on Signy Island, South Orkney Islands (60° 43' S, 45° 36' W). A total of 324 specimens was used in the study. The length of all individuals in each clump was measured to the nearest 0.1 mm using Vernier calipers.

The central animals in each clump were tagged using fish tags, and clumps were attached to lengths of 5 mm nylon rope. They were attached at 300 mm intervals using 2 mm plastic cable ties attached to the central brachiopod and threaded between the fibres of the nylon rope. The nylon ropes were returned to rocky overhangs at three sites in Borge Bay (figure 1). They were stretched between stainless steel climbing pegs hammered into cracks at either end of the overhangs. The three sites chosen represented

BIOLOGICAL

THE ROYAL

PHILOSOPHICAL TRANSACTIONS

ЧO



Figure 1. Experimental sites where growth rate trials were deployed in Borge Bay, Signy Island. Site one was at Bare Rock (6 m depth), site two at Outer Island (11 m depth), and site three at Powell Rock (6 m depth). Figure redrawn from Stanwell-Smith & Barnes (1997).

two different habitat types. Sites one and two were deep overhangs containing large populations of brachiopods, and were at 6 m and 11 m depth, respectively. They were less than 400 m apart and were the main sites from which specimens were collected for the study. The third site was an overhang at 6 m depth with a strong macroalgal stand of *Desmarestia* at the entrance, but it had no brachiopods inhabiting it. It had strong tidal water movements, but was protected from ice-scour.

Experiments were initiated in early January 1992. At site one the brachiopods were retrieved and remeasured at the end of the following two summers and winters until December 1993 when the study was terminated. During the initial collection and subsequent collections for remeasurement care was taken to minimize stress to the brachiopods. They were held underwater at all times during transport from the experimental site to the station aquarium, and were always returned to the overhangs within 48 h of collection. At sites two and three the whole string of brachiopods were left in place for the full two years of the experiment. Thus site two acted as a control for the repeated biannual disturbance at site one.

Growth rates were calculated from growth increments using the general von Bertalanffy growth curve:

$$L_t = L_{\infty} (1 - e^{-K(t - t_0)})^D,$$

and fitted using a SIMPLEX nonlinear program (Press *et al.* 1986).

(b) Respiration rate assessments

At the end of the growth experiment 75 specimens were held in laboratory aquaria in $1.2\,\mu\mathrm{m}$ filtered

(Whatman GF/C) seawater for 35 days, after their final lengths had been measured. This was to ensure that their metabolic rates were close to basal levels. Periods of this duration have previously been shown to be necessary for oxygen consumption (VO_2) in *L. uva* to reach basal levels (Peck 1989). The respiration rates of the brachiopods were then measured using closed bottle methods and a couloximeter to assess oxygen content of respirometers, as previously described (Peck & Uglow 1990; Peck & Whitehouse 1992; Peck 1996).

Ash-free dry mass (AFDM) was determined for each specimen after VO_2 assessments were completed. It was assessed as the difference between dry mass (24 h at 60 °C) and the mass remaining after ignition at 475 °C for 24 h. Total AFDM (including shell organic matter) was used because of the presence of large numbers of mantle extensions, called caeca, in the shell valves, which may account for over 50% of the organic content of a punctate brachiopod (Curry & Ansell 1986; Peck *et al.* 1987).

3. RESULTS

(a) Mortality

Mean mortality rates (figure 2) at site one for each period returned to the sea were 15.7% (s.e. = 0.973). Summer and winter periods were not significantly different (ANOVA, F = 0.19, p = 0.71, 3 d.f.). At site two the mortality rate for the whole two-year period was 17.7%, which was not significantly different from the mean value for site one (t = 2.11, 0.2). Subtracting the mean mortality rate for site one from the two-year value for site two should remove mortality rate for site two should remove mortality.

BIOLOGICAL

THE ROYA

PHILOSOPHICAL TRANSACTIONS

BIOLOGICAL

OF



Figure 2. *Liothyrella uva*: mortality rates at the three different sites. Hatched bars indicate six monthly mortalities at site one; open bar indicates mortality over two years at site two; black bar shows mortality over two years at site three. S indicates summer periods, W indicates winter periods; numbers indicate years.

tality due to handling effects. That mean mortality at site one was not significantly different from overall mortality at site two indicates that natural mortality was below the threshold for detection. The mortality rate at site two would have needed to be 18.8% to have been significantly higher than the mean for site one. This would correspond to an extra 3.1% over the extra 18 months duration at site two, or 2% per year. Natural mortality over the two-year period of the experiment was, therefore, significantly less than 2% per year. At site three the mortality rate, 68.9% over the two-year period, was significantly higher than at the other two sites (t = 54.7, p < 0.001). Also at site three, 64% of the clumps set out had been broken or were absent at the end of the experiment.

(b) Growth rates

Overall growth rates at sites one and two were not significantly different (figure 3). Maximum ages calculated from these two sets of data are 71 yr (54.1 mm length) at site one and 46 yr (47.2 mm length) at site two, respectively. Growth rates calculated as shell increment per day at site one were approximately six and 12 times faster in winter than summer for 10 mm and 20 mm length individuals, respectively (figure 4). The maximum winter growth rate for a 5 mm individual was $9.3 \,\mu m \, d^{-1}$, whereas in summer it was $2.7 \,\mu m \, d^{-1}$.

There were differences in growth between the two years. In 1992 growth was faster in both summer and winter periods than in 1993 (table 1), however, an ANOVA comparison indicated that although the effect of season (the difference between summer and



Figure 3. Liothyrella uva: growth at two sites. At site one specimens were remeasured at six monthly intervals; at site two they were measured at the start and end of the two year experiment. General von Bertalanffy functions were fitted to both datasets (site one: K = 0.0297, D = 0.7914; site two: K = 0.0451, D = 1.0749; L_{∞} was set to 60 mm to cover the whole size range). Age is 'relative', because theoretical age-at-length zero (t_0) cannot be computed from size increment data.



Figure 4. Liothyrella uva: Growth rates (mm d⁻¹) plotted against brachiopod shell length (mm) for summer and winter periods in 1992. Growth was significantly faster in winter than summer (ANOVA: F = 43.99; p < 0.0001; 1,161 d.f.).

winter) had a significant effect on growth increment produced (F = 43.99, p < 0.0001), the overall difference between years was not significant (F = 1.80, p = 0.18). In both winters animals throughout the whole size range of the population grew. However, in the first summer only brachiopods less than 43.8 mm in length produced growth increments, and in the second summer only specimens less than 24.9 mm in length increased in size.

Table 1. Liothyrella uva: daily growth increments (mm d⁻¹) for specimens of 5, 10, 20 and 40 mm length, for summer and winter periods in 1992 and 1993. Figures in parentheses denote standard error, * denotes brachiopods of 40 mm in length and above, which did not increase in length during the austral summer of 1993

	1992		1993	
shell length	summer	winter	summer	winter
5	2.67(0.53)	9.25(1.05)	1.89(0.83)	6.88(0.68)
10	2.33(0.44)	8.13(0.89)	1.42(0.70)	6.17(0.58)
20	1.63(0.31)	5.88(0.60)	0.46(0.47)	4.75(0.39)
40	$0.25\ (0.35)$	1.39(0.62)	*	$1.91 \ (0.39)$



Figure 5. Liothyrella uva: oxygen consumption (μ g O₂ animal⁻¹ h⁻¹) and brachiopod AFDM (g). Note logarithmic axes.

(c) Oxygen consumption

Basal metabolism, as oxygen consumed (μ g animal⁻¹ h⁻¹) was related to brachiopod AFDM (g) by the equation,

$$\ln VO_2 = 3.03 + 0.90 \ln AFDM$$

 $(n = 74, r^2 = 0.35, F = 40.1, p < 0.001, figure 5).$

Plotting residuals of a regression of daily growth increments versus brachiopod length with residuals of the VO_2 versus AFDM regression should indicate any relationship between individual growth rate and basal metabolism. However, no significant relationship between basal metabolism and growth rate was found when this was done (figure 6).

4. DISCUSSION

(a) Growth rates

The annual shell growth rates for *Liothyrella uva* of $1.6-2.3 \text{ mm yr}^{-1}$ for a 5 mm length individual and $0.96-1.44 \text{ mm yr}^{-1}$ for a 20 mm length brachiopod are slow. They are between 15% and 50% of those



Figure 6. Liothyrella uva: residuals from the regression of VO_2 versus AFDM (VO_{2res}) plotted against residuals of daily growth rate versus shell length (G_{res}). There was no significant relationship between the variables: $VO_{2res} = 0.117 + 0.153G_{res}$ (n = 72; $r^2 = 0.005$; F = 1.37; p = 0.25).

reported for temperate brachiopods (Doherty 1979; Collins 1991). There was considerable seasonal variability in the growth rate of L. uva and the fastest rates obtained (about $9 \,\mu\text{m} \,\mathrm{d}^{-1}$ for a 5 mm specimen) are comparable with moderate or slow annual rates for temperate species. Comparing the fastest rates obtained for L. uva with overall annual rates for temperate brachiopods is, however, not a reasonable one. Seasonal variation in shell growth of temperate brachiopods has not been studied. However, it is highly likely that there is seasonal variation in the growth of temperate species, and even if not as intense as that seen here would indicate that maximum growth rates in L. uva are considerably less than maximum rates in temperate brachiopods

The intensity of seasonality in the physiology and ecology of Antarctic benthic invertebrates is currently under debate. The prevailing hypotheses are based on the strong seasonality of the physical environment and phytoplankton bloom and predict

BIOLOGICAL

TRANSACTIONS CONTRANSACTIONS

ЧO

856 L. S. Peck and others Antarctic brachiopod growth Downloaded from rstb.royalsocietypublishing.org

strong seasonality in organismal variables such as growth, especially in suspension-feeding species dependent on microalgae (Clarke 1983, 1988; Clarke & North 1991; Clarke & Peck 1991). The predictions from such hypotheses are that growth will be seasonal and in phase with periods of phytoplankton productivity. Recently (Barnes 1995a) found that Antarctic bryozoans exhibit a wide range of growth strategies from seasonal through to totally aseasonal (continuous throughout the year). The feeding strategies of these bryozoans have also been shown to be continuous or to extend through large parts of the year. This implies that they are feeding on material in the nanoplankton $(2-20 \,\mu\text{m})$ size range. Phytoplankton in this size range are present in the water column for much longer periods than the major phytoplankton bloom, which mainly comprises microphytoplankton (greater than 20 mm diameter).

Growth rates of juveniles of the infaunal bivalve mollusc Yoldia eightsi are even and continuous throughout the year (Peck & Colman, in preparation), and are also decoupled from cycles in tissue mass (AFDM), which are seasonal and related to periods of resource supply. The faster winter shell growth rates found here for L. uva are surprising in that they are completely out of phase with periods of high food abundance (the summer phytoplankton bloom), but are also not compatible with continuous steady feeding and growth throughout the year. Peck & Holmes (1989) found that L. uva has an annual AFDM cycle in phase with the summer bloom. As for Y. eightsi, therefore, tissue mass cycles and shell growth are decoupled, but for L. uva shell growth is not even through the year, but faster when its probable food supply is low.

Brachiopods have recently become recognized as exhibiting low energy lifestyles (James et al. 1992; Peck 1992; Peck et al. 1997). It is this feature which may be the key to interpreting the patterns observed here. The major life history traits quoted in discussions of their low energy lifestyles are low metabolism, growth and activity levels. However, another evident characteristic is their low tissue content compared to the volumes they occupy (Rudwick 1970; Curry & Ansell 1986; Peck 1993). This character can be viewed as an adaptation which reduces maintenance metabolic costs, enabling brachiopods to survive in areas where resource supplies are low, or temporally restricted, and is thought to enhance the efficiency of resource utilization. The low observed tissue density also reflects a reduction in cellular machinery and the separating of growth functions from feeding would be expected if the efficiency of resource use were extreme, as the biomass of an individual needed to perform functions would be minimized, reducing extraneous metabolic costs. A high efficiency strategy of this type, producing a reduction in overall cellular machinery for specific tasks, would be expected to restrict the scope for activity or metabolic power generation of these organisms. Such a restriction in metabolic power generation has been observed in *L. uva* (Peck 1996).

Summer growth rates found here were faster in 1991/92 than 1992/93, but rates were not significantly different between years. Bands on shells are caused by a cessation of growth, and should ideally be viewed as growth check marks. In L. uva they are most likely produced in alternate summers and their production dictated by reproductive events. It is possible, therefore, that a growth check was laid down in most specimens in the summer of 1992/93, and not in 1991/92. There was a strong phytoplankton bloom in both of these years, although maximum summer temperatures in 1991/92 were approximately 0.5 °C cooler than in 1992/93 and the lower temperature was associated with a longer preceding period of sea ice duration (Clarke & Leakey 1996). However, these differences are small and unlikely to have produced the reduction in growth between the 1991/92 summer and the 1992/93 summer.

A recent assessment of reproduction in L. uva found great inter-annual variability in reproductive activity, with the possibility of long-term cycles in reproductive events (Meidlinger et al. 1997). There was a strong release of larvae in October 1991 as shown by the study of larval development in L. uvaby Peck & Robinson (1994) from that summer. This suggests that shell growth may be faster in the summers following spawning and reduced to form growth checks in alternate years. It thus appears that there may be a trade off between somatic growth and reproductive investment on a two-year cycle and that this may be the cause of the sub-biennial periodicity in growth band formation reported for L. uva by Peck & Brey (1996). Cessations of growth resulting in the formation of growth bands should be clearly visible in the shell microstructure, an this would be a mechanism for assessing the period when bands are laid down. However, such detailed investigations of shell structure in L. uva have not as yet been conducted.

(b) Mortality

The mortality rates reported here, at less than $2\% \text{ yr}^{-1}$ (and possibly much lower than this) are low. Brey et al. (1995) found a left-skewed size-frequency distribution for a population of another Antarctic brachiopod Magellania fragilis. They suggested three possibilities for such a distribution: highly episodic recruitment, low mortality compared to growth rate or size dependent mortality with large size providing a refuge from mortality factors. L. uva has similar size-frequency distributions at sites around Signy Island (L. Peck, unpublished data). The low mortality rates found here suggest that the left-skewed size distributions are caused by low mortality compared to growth rate (which is also low), and not due to episodic recruitment.

Mortality rates have been shown to be very high for juvenile and small brachiopods in temperate localities, and large size forms a refuge from mortality factors (Doherty 1979; Collins 1991). Rates of mortality are almost universally high for larvae and new recruits of marine benthic invertebrates in general. Downloaded from rstb.royalsocietypublishing.org

The study here was confined to specimens greater than 4 mm in length, and it is probable that the major size classes with high mortality rates were not sampled. Brood sizes range from 100-4000 embryos in *L. uva* at Signy Island, and reproduction possibly occurs on a biennial cycle (Meidlinger *et al.* 1997). As specimens live to greater than 50 yr of age and reproduce for about 40 yr, each female on average will be expected to produce 20 broods, and hence $2000-80\,000$ embryos. Overall mortality rates must, therefore, be in excess of 99%. In this context mortality in the early stages of life must be very high, but survival to the sizes used in this investigation (greater than 4 mm in length) provides a refuge from the major mortality factors.

The Antarctic nearshore environment is one characterized by intense physical disturbance (Peck & Bullough 1993; Arntz et al. 1994; Barnes 1995b, c). In shallow sites (less than 30 m depth) brachiopods are mainly restricted to cryptic habitats, primarily crevices, rocky overhangs and caves, where they are protected from the effects of ice-scour. All three sites studied here were protected from ice-scour. However, there was very high mortality at site three, which was probably due to physical damage from the strong wave surge at that site, as many of the clumps had been broken or removed during the experiment. This suggests that the distributions of some species of articulate brachiopods may be limited by physical disturbance other than ice-scour. At deeper sites L. uvaoccurs progressively in more open locations at Signy Island (D. Barnes, personal communication). Icescour and physical disturbance are, therefore likely to be major mortality factors in this environment. Predation, on the other hand, is slight. No observations of predators feeding on L. uva were made during the three years of the study, and no specimens lost to predators. However, several specimens held in aquarium tanks have been drilled and eaten by an unidentified muricid snail.

(c) Respiration

The lack of a relationship between growth performance and basal oxygen consumption in L. uva is surprising. Growth and metabolism, along with activity and reproduction, are the major routes of energy utilization by animals. It would be expected in species where activity levels are low, such as brachiopods, that trade-offs between growth and basal metabolism would be apparent, and that individuals with reduced maintenance costs would have a greater scope for growth (Bayne & Newell 1983). It might be expected that this would be even more apparent in species inhabiting resource limited environments, such as polar oceans. However, it is possible that in low energy lifestyle species living in reduced resource supply environments that basal metabolic rates are reduced to such low levels that any scope for interindividual variation is strongly limited. This is supported by the fact that oxygen consumption in cold water brachiopods is between 0.1 times and 0.5 times that of similar sized bivalve molluscs (James et al.

1992). Clearly the effects of a highly seasonal polar environment on inter-individual variation in physiological performance requires further investigation.

5. CONCLUSIONS

Growth rates in the Antarctic brachiopod Liothyrella uva are slow and highly seasonal. Shell growth was 5–13 times faster in winter than in summer. Shell growth was decoupled from periods of tissue mass increase and also from the major periods of phytoplankton productivity. Mortality rates were less than $2\% \text{ yr}^{-1}$, and probably less than $1\% \text{ yr}^{-1}$. The ability of brachiopods to separate physiological functions to different parts of the year is clearly advantageous in low energy supply environments.

We thank the members of the British Antarctic Survey Signy Island Research Station for their support during fieldwork, especially the boatmen Pete Macko and Russ Manning, and the diving officers Pog Wilkinson and Rob Wood. We also thank Andrew Clarke for scientific discussions during the study and also for helpful comments on early drafts. Sir Alwyn Williams and Professor P. Tyler made constructive criticisms during the refereeing process. The work was supported by the Natural Environment Research Council of the UK.

REFERENCES

- Arntz, W. E., Brey, T. & Gallardo, V. A. 1994 Antarctic zoobenthos. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. A. Rev. 32, 241–304.
- Barnes, D. K. A. 1995a Seasonal and annual growth in erect species of Antarctic bryozoans. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 188, 181–198.
- Barnes, D. K. A. 1995b Sublittoral epifaunal communities at Signy Island, Antarctica. I. The ice foot zone. *Mar. Biol.* **121**, 555–563.
- Barnes, D. K. A. 1995c Sublittoral epifaunal communities at Signy Island, Antarctica. II. Below the ice foot zone. *Mar. Biol.* **121**, 565–572.
- Barnes, D. K. A. & Clarke, A. 1995 Seasonality of feeding activity in Antarctic suspension feeders. *Polar Biol.* 15, 335–340.
- Bayne, B. L. & Newell, R. C. 1983 Physiological energetics of marine molluscs. In *The Mollusca* (ed. A. S. M. Saleuddin & K. M. Wilbur), vol. 4, pp. 407–516. London: Academic.
- Brey, T., Peck, L. S., Gutt, J., Hain, S. & Arntz, W. E. 1995 Population dynamics of *Magellania fragilis*, a brachiopod dominating a mixed-bottom macrobenthic assemblage on the Antarctic shelf. J. Mar. Biol. Ass. UK 75, 857–869.
- Clarke, A. 1983 Life in cold water: the physiological ecology of polar marine ectotherms. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. A. Rev. 21, 341–453.
- Clarke, A. 1988 Seasonality in the Antarctic marine environment. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B 90, 461–473.
- Clarke, A. 1991 What is cold adaptation and how should we measure it? *Am. Zool.* **31**, 81–92.
- Clarke, A. & Leakey, R. J. 1996 The seasonal cycle of phytoplankton, macronutrients and the microbial community in a nearshore Antarctic marine ecosystem. *Lim*nol. Oceanogr. 41, 1281–1294.
- Clarke, A. & North, A. W. 1991 Is the growth of polar fish limited by temperature? In Biology of Antarctic fishes. Proc. 2nd Int. Conf., Ravello, Italy, 30/5-

1/6/1990 (ed. G. di Prisco, B. Maresca & B. Tota), pp. 54–69. Berlin: Springer.

- Clarke, A. & Peck, L. S. 1991 The physiology of polar marine zooplankton. In Proc. Pro-Mare Symp. on Polar Marine Ecology, Trondheim, 12–16/5/1990 (ed. E. Sakshaug, C. C. E. Hopkins & N. A. Øritsland). Polar Res. 10, 355–369.
- Collins, M. J. 1991 Growth rate and substrate-related mortality of a benthic brachiopod population. *Lethaia* 24, 1–11.
- Curry, G. B. & Ansell, A. D. 1986 Tissue mass in living brachiopods. In Les Brachiopodes Fossiles et actuels. Proc. 1st Int. Cong. on Brachiopods (ed. P. R. Racheboeuf & C. C. Emig). Biostratigraphie du Paleozoique 4, 231–241.
- Dayton, P. K., Newman, W. A., Paine, R. T. & Dayton, L. B. 1974 Ecological accommodation in the benthic community at McMurdo Sound, Antarctica. *Ecol. Monogr.* 44, 105–128.
- Doherty, P. J. 1979 A demographic study of a subtidal population of the New Zealand articulate brachiopod *Terebratella inconspicua. Mar. Biol.* 52, 331–342.
- Hawkins, A. J. S. 1995 Effects of temperature change on ectotherm metabolism and evolution: metabolic and physiological interrelations underlying the superiority of multiple-locus heterozygotes in heterogenous environments. J. Thermal. Biol. 20, 23–33.
- Hawkins, A. J. S. & Day, A. J. 1996 The metabolic basis of genetic differences in growth efficiency among marine animals. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 203, 93–115.
- James, M. A., Ansell, A. D., Collins, M. J., Curry, G. B., Peck, L. S. & Rhodes, M. C. 1992 Biology of living brachiopods. Adv. Mar. Biol. 28, 175–387.
- Koehn, R. K. 1987 The importance of genetics to physiological ecology. In *New directions in ecological physiology* (ed. M. E. Feder, A. F. Bennet & R. B. Huey). Cambridge University Press.
- Koehn, R. K. & Shumway, S. E. 1982 A genetic-physiological explanation for differential growth rate among individuals of the American oyster, *Crassostrea vir*ginica. Mar. Biol. 3, 35–42.
- Meidlinger, K., Tyler, P. A. & Peck, L. S. 1997 Reproductive patterns in the Antarctic brachiopod *Liothyrella* uva (Broderip 1833). Mar. Biol. (In the press.)
- Peck, L. S. 1989 Temperature and basal metabolism in two Antarctic marine herbivores. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 127, 1–12.
- Peck, L. S. 1992 Body volumes and internal space constraints in articulate brachiopods. *Lethaia* 25, 383–390.
- Peck, L. S. 1993 The tissues of articulate brachiopods and their value to predators. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond.* B 339, 17–32.
- Peck, L. S. 1996 Metabolism and feeding in the Antarctic brachiopod *Liothyrella uva*: a low energy lifestyle

species with restricted metabolic scope. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B 263, 223–228.

- Peck, L. S. & Brey, T. 1996 Bomb signals in old Antarctic brachiopods. *Nature* 380, 207–208.
- Peck, L. S. & Bullough, L. 1993 Growth and population structure in the infaunal *Yoldia eightsi* in relation to iceberg activity at Signy Island, Antarctica. *Mar. Biol.* 117, 235–241.
- Peck, L. S. & Colman, J. G. 1997 Growth and tissue mass cycles in the infaunal bivalve *Yoldia eightsi* at Signy Island, Antarctica. (In preparation.)
- Peck, L. S. & Holmes, L. J. 1989 Seasonal and ontogenetic changes in tissue size in the Antarctic brachiopod *Lio*thyrella uva (Broderip 1833). J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 134, 25–36.
- Peck, L. S., & Robinson, K. R. 1994 Pelagic larval development in the brooding Antarctic brachiopod *Lio*thyrella uva. Mar. Biol. 120, 279–286.
- Peck, L. S. & Uglow, R. F. 1990 Two methods for the assessment of the oxygen content of small volumes of seawater. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 141, 53–62.
- Peck, L. S. & Whitehouse, M. 1992 An improved desorber design for use in couloximetry. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 163, 163–167.
- Peck, L. S., Clarke, A. & Holmes, L. J. 1987 Size, shape and the distribution of organic matter in the recent Antarctic brachiopod *Liothyrella uva. Lethaia* 20, 33– 40.
- Peck, L. S., Rhodes, M. C. Curry, G. B. & Ansell, A. D. 1997 Physiology and metabolism. In *Treatise* on invertebrate palaeontology, H: Brachiopoda (ed. A. Williams). Lawrence, KS: Geological Society of America and the University of Kansas. (In the press.)
- Press, W. H., Teukolsky, S. A., Vetterling, W. T. & Flannery, B. P. 1986 Numerical recipes. Cambridge University Press.
- Rauschert, M. 1991 Ergebnisse der faunistischen arbeiten im benthal von King George Island (Südshetlandinseln, Antarctis). Ber. Polarforsch. 76, 1–75.
- Rudwick, M. J. S. 1970 Living and fossil brachiopods, p. 199. London: Hutchinson.
- Sibley, R. & Calow, P. 1986 Physiological ecology of animals: an evolutionary approach, p. 179. Oxford: Blackwell Scientific.
- Stanwell-Smith, D. P. & Barnes, D. K. A. 1997 Benthic community development in Antarctica: recruitment and growth on settlement panels at Signy Island. *J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol.* (In the press.)
- Wieser, W. 1994 Cost of growth in cells and organisms: general rules and comparative aspects. *Biol. Rev.* 68, 1–33.

Recieved 14 November 1996; accepted 3 January 1997